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REPLY TO PLAINTIFF’S RESPONSE TO MOTION TO DISMISS                                                            AND REQUEST FOR C.R.C.P.11 SANCTIONS

COME NOW, Defendants New York Deli News, Inc. and Albert Belsky, by and though Eileen R. Lerman of Lerman & Associates, P.C. and submit the following Reply to Plaintiff’s Response to Motion to Dismiss and Request for C.R.C.P. Rule 11 Sanctions:

1. On page 2 of Plaintiff’s Response, Plaintiff states that paragraphs 1-4 of Defendant’s

Motion refer to a previous version of a Complaint and Summons.  Plaintiff’s statement is correct. The previous version of the Complaint and Summons was served on counsel for Defendants on June 15, 2004, but not filed with the Denver District Court within ten days of the date of service as required by C.R.C.P. 3. Plaintiff’s failure to properly file that complaint within the timeframe set forth in C.R.C.P. 3  is the basis for Defendants’ Counterclaim set forth in their Answer and Counterclaim filed July 9, 2004.   

2.
Plaintiff claims that it’s failure to file the Complaint served on counsel for Defendants on June 15, 2004 with the Court “…has been obviated by the re-service and re-filing of the Complaint on June 30, 2004.” C.R.C.P.3 does not provide that a subsequent re-service and re-filing “cures” a violation of the ten day filing requirement.  The only “cure” for violation of the ten day filing requirement is by an express waiver by the defendants or upon the filing of a responsive pleading or motion to the complaint without reserving the issue, neither of which occurred in this case.

3. Counsel for Defendants has in no way tried to mislead or confuse the Court about 

Consumer Crusade’s April 13, 2004 “demand letter” sent to Eileen R. Lerman at New York Deli News’ mailing address or consultations between counsel concerning the bases for the Plaintiff’s TCPA claims.  Counsel for Defendants never saw the April 13, 2004 “demand letter” until it was faxed to her the evening of  June 24, 2004, by Mr. Demirali. Counsel for Defendants has never received copies of the alleged offending faxes and the assignments of the recipients’ TCPA claims to Plaintiff. 
  While it may be true that counsel’s letter dated April 13, 2004 states that “Copies of those junk faxes, along with the relevant assignments are enclosed herewith”, no such faxes or assignments were included or ever produced.  As evidenced by the letter from Defendants’ counsel dated June 17, 2004, which was attached as Exhibit A to the Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss, counsel for Defendants made the following request to counsel for Plaintiff: “Please provide a list of the names and addresses of all individuals who have alleged that they received unsolicited faxes, copies of the faxes evidencing the dates received, and copies of any documents evidencing these individuals’ assignment of claims to Consumer Crusade, Inc.”  To date, counsel for Plaintiff has failed or refused to provide the faxes or the assignments.  Simply saying that he previously sent this information does not make it so.  It is interesting that Plaintiff’s counsel did not include copies of the alleged offending faxes or the assignments as exhibits to his Response. 

4. Albert Belsky, General Manager of New York Deli News, Inc., did receive a copy of the 

April 13, 2004 demand letter and he promptly called Mr. Demirali’s office to advise them that the only faxes ever sent by New York Deli News, Inc. were to existing customers. (Exhibit A).   Based on Exhibits 4 and 5 of Plaintiff’s Response to Motion to Dismiss and Request for C.R.C.P. 11 Sanctions, apparently Ms. Laurie Lawrence, an employee of counsel for Plaintiff was requested to call the alleged “assignors”.  Plaintiff’s Exhibit 4 reflects an apparent contact with Russell Simpson , M.D.  Attached as Exhibit B hereto is an affidavit from Katherine Simpson, the office manager of the medical office of Dr. Russell Simpson, affirming the existing business relationship between their office and New York Deli News, Inc. Obviously, no one from Plaintiff’s office bothered to ask Dr. Simpson if he was the person  responsible for ordering food for delivery to his office or if food from the New York Deli News had been delivered to his office. Exhibit 4 also reflects that a message was left for Craig C. Eley.  There is no mention,  however, as to whether anyone ever spoke to Eley or if he was asked about whether there was an existing business relationship between his office and New York Deli News, Inc.  Attached as Exhibit C hereto is an affidavit from Cynthia Eley, an attorney with the offices of Eley & Eley affirming the existing business relationship between their office and New York Deli News, Inc.

5.
In Plaintiff’s Response, Consumer Crusade contends that they are the real party in interest and furthermore states that “Defendants can cite no legal authority for their presumption that recipients of faxes are prohibited from assigning their claims. Defendant begs to differ. Consumer Crusade is precluded from proceeding with any action against the Defendants in this matter because

a. Although the TCPA includes a provision for private causes of action in state courts,  Plaintiff’s claim fails because the 1999 Colorado Consumer Protection Act precluded private actions under the TCPA in Colorado state courts based on violations which allegedly occurred in 2003 and/or

b. Claims arising from the violation of an individual’s right of privacy are not assignable and/or

c. Private rights of action under the Telephone Consumer Protection Act (TCPA) 47 U.S.C. §227(b)(3) are statutory penalties and as such cannot be assigned under either Federal or Colorado law.

The 1999 Colorado Consumer Protection Act Precluded Private Actions Under The TCPA In Colorado State Courts For Violations That Allegedly Occurred In Calendar Year 2003

6.
 On July 26, 2004, the Honorable Judge Martin F. Egelhoff dismissed Consumer Crusade, Inc.’s Complaint accusing Affordable Health Care Solutions, Inc., et al. (“AHCS”)  of violations of the TCPA which  allegedly occurred in calendar year 2003, finding that with respect to faxes sent during the year 2003, such actions are not permitted in Colorado state courts .  A copy of Judge Egelhoff’s decision in Denver District Court action 04 CV 803 is attached hereto as Exhibit D. 

7.
 In the Complaint against New York Deli News, Inc., Plaintiff alleges in paragraph 4 that  “At various times during the year 2003, Defendant, New York Deli News, Inc., sent one or more faxes to the fax machines of various individuals in the State of Colorado (“Claimants”).”  The Complaint by Consumer Crusade, Inc. against AHCS alleged that AHCS was liable to Consumer Crusade, Inc. for violating the TCPA by sending unsolicited advertisements via facsimile (fax) to Plaintiff’s assignors “at various times during the year 2003.”

8. Judge Egelhoff’s extremely well-reasoned decision incorporates the legislative history of the 

TCPA, noting that the United States Congress included a private cause of action in the TCPA out of solicitude for, and purely in the interest of, the states. International Science & Technology Institute, Inc. v. Inacom Communications, Inc., 106 F.3d 1146, 1154 (4th Cir. 1997). The intent of Congress in including a private cause of action in the TCPA was to supplement state legislation prohibiting or restricting unsolicited telemarketing by extending a grant of jurisdiction to the states over interstate calls. In fact, state courts have exclusive jurisdiction to hear private actions under the TCPA. See e.g. Murphey v. Lanier, 204 F.3d 911, 913-915 (9th Cir. 2000) (concurring with five other circuits). 


9. Judge Egelhoff noted that while states are required to enforce federal law when federal and 

state courts have concurrent jurisdiction (Testa v. Katt, 330 U.S. 386 (1947)), “the Constitution has never been understood to confer upon Congress the ability to require the states to govern according to Congress’ instructions.” New York v. U.S., 505 U.S. 144, 162 (1992). Under the Tenth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution, it would be an unconstitutional infringement on state sovereignty for the federal government to “commandeer” state courts by compelling them to enforce a federal program. Id. Since there is no concurrent jurisdiction over hearing private actions, Congress specifically gave states the ability to reject the TCPA’s grant of jurisdiction. International Science, 106 F.3d at 1157. 

10.
Judge Egelhoff concluded that, to the extent it is acceptable for a state to disallow private actions based on the TCPA altogether, a state may also adopt a different standard of conduct for private actions on the issue of fax telemarketing. The Court noted that there has been much national debate regarding whether, in giving or withholding consent to private actions under the TCPA, a state must opt-in or opt-out of the TCPA scheme. See The Chair King, Inc. v. GTE Mobilenet of Houston, Inc., 2004 WL 964224 (May 6, 2004).  Judge Egelhoff concluded that until the most recent legislative session, Colorado both declined to opt-in and effectively opted-out of the TCPA’s private enforcement scheme concerning unsolicited fax advertisements, exercising its right to set a different course.

      11.
Eight years after Congress enacted the TCPA, in 1999 the Colorado Legislature amended             C.R.S. § 6-1-702 which allowed consumers to bring suit in state court only when the sender fails        to give the receiver out-of-court resource to prevent fax advertisements. Essentially, Colorado            made a permissible choice to limit private litigation based on the receipt of unsolicited faxes.

The Colorado statute addresses the same issue (private actions based on the receipt of fax advertisements) and provides a remedy nearly identical to TCPA’s, even as it sets forth a differing standard of conduct and excludes certain groups from its operation.  These facts led  the Court to believe that Colorado’s statute was not intended simply as an additional penalty designed to address additional wrongdoing.  Therefore, the Court concluded that the 1999 Colorado Consumer Protection Act precludes private actions under the TCPA in state court.  As a result, the Court determined that it lacked subject matter jurisdiction to hear Plaintiff’s claims.


Claims Arising From The Violation Of An Individual’s Right Of Privacy Are Not Assignable

12.  In Jefferson County Court action, 03-C-014825, Plaintiff USA Tax Law Center, Inc., sued   Defendant Capital Arbitration, Inc., alleging that Defendant sent an unsolicited fax advertisement in violation of §227(b)(3)(c) of the TCPA.  Plaintiff claimed ownership of the action through an assignment of all causes of action available to Sign-A-Rama, the alleged recipient of the unsolicited fax advertisement. In a March 31, 2004 Order entered by Judge Kim Goldberger, attached hereto as Exhibit E, Plaintiff’s action was dismissed because Sign-A-Rama’s private right of action created under the TCPA was determined not to be assignable.  

13.  Judge Goldberger construed §227(b)(3) of the TCPA to create a right of action intended to protect the privacy interests of the individual harmed by the illegal transmission of unsolicited faxes. Judge Goldberger therefore looked to common law principles regarding assignability of an individual’s right of privacy claim.  The Court noted that the general rule is that assignability and descendibility go hand in hand. Home Ins. Co. v. Atchison, 34 P. 281 (Colo. 1893). If a right of action survives the death of the party entitled to sue and passes to his personal representative, that action may be assigned; if it does not, the converse is true. Olmstead v. Allstate Ins. Co., 320 F.Supp. 1076 (D.Colo.1971). 

14.   When Judge Goldberger wrote his opinion, he concluded that Colorado case law had yet  to address the assignability of a right of privacy claim.  When the Judge looked to other jurisdictions, he found that other jurisdictions hold that a right of privacy claim does not survive upon the death of the person and therefore is not assignable. See Melvin v. Reid, 297 P.91 (Cal.App.1031) (right of privacy is purely personal action and does not survive, but dies with the person); Nicholas v. Nicholas, 83 P.3d 214 (Kan.2004) (except for the appropriation of one’s name or likeness, an action for invasion of privacy can be maintained only by a living individual whose privacy is invaded); See Young v. That Was The Week That Was a/k/a TW-3, et.al., 423 F.2d 265 (6th Cir. 1969) (decedent’s heirs had no right of action for invasion of decedent’s privacy); See Shibley v.  Time, Inc., 321 N.E.2d 791(Ohio Com.Pl.1974) (privacy claim is a peculiarly personal one that cannot be assigned and does not survive death). Judge Goldberger found the assignment of Sign-A-Rama to USA Tax Law Center, Inc. was not valid and dismissed the case. 
 

Private Rights Of Action Under The Telephone Consumer Protection Act (TCPA) 47 U.S.C. §227(b)(3) Are Statutory Penalties And As Such Cannot Be Assigned Under Either Federal Or Colorado Law

15.   As noted above, although the TCPA includes a provision for private causes of action in state courts,  the 1999 Colorado Consumer Protection Act precluded private actions under the TCPA in Colorado state courts until the legislature revised the Colorado Consumer Protection Act in calendar year 2004. The new law expressly opted-in to the TCPA’s private enforcement scheme, extending jurisdiction for TCPA private actions to Colorado state courts.  The five Circuit Courts of Appeals that have addressed the question of jurisdiction in private action  cases arising under the TCPA have unanimously determined that claims arising under 47 U.S.C. § 227(b)(3) may only be brought in state court. Murphey v. Lanier, 204 F.3d 911, 915 (9th Cir. 2000) (holding that “states have exclusive jurisdiction over a cause of action created by…the Telephone Consumer Protection Act of 1991”); see ErieNet, Inc. v. Velocity Net, Inc., 156 F.3d 513, 520 (3d Cir. 1998); see Foxhall Realty Law Offices, Inc. v. Telecommunications Premium Servs., Ltd., 156 F.3d 432, 438 (2nd Cir. 1998);  see Nicholson v. Hooters of Augusta, Inc., 136 F.3d 1287, 1287, modified, 140 F.3d 898 (11th Cir. 1998); see Chair King, Inc. v. Houston Cellular Corp., 131 F.3d 507, 514 (5th Cir. 1997).

16.  In order to proceed in a Colorado state court with an assigned TCPA claim, the claim must be assignable under both federal and Colorado state law. Generally, federal law controls the assignability of a federal claim.  See, e.g., APCC Services, Inc. v. AT&T Corp., 281 F.Supp.2d 41, 50 (D.C. 2003).   However, here the private cause of action under the TCPA is conditioned upon existing substantive and procedural state law.  If either federal law or state law does not allow assignment of the claim, then the claim cannot be assigned.   If federal law does not allow the assignment of the claim, the issue of assignability under state law is moot.  Only if federal law allows for the assignment of the claim do we reach the question of whether Colorado law allows assignment of the claim because the state cannot expand a federal cause of action.  The state may, however, limit or restrict the reach of the claim. 

17.   Federal law is consistent with the law of most states addressing the issue.  “The general rule under the federal common law is that an action for a penalty does not survive the death of the plaintiff.”  Smith v. Dept. of Human Services, 876 F.2d 832, 834-835 (10th Cir. 1989) (Internal citations omitted).  The question in this case is whether a TCPA action under §227(b)(3) is an action for a penalty.  “Typically, a court is required to infer from a reading of the relevant statute and its history whether a cause of action is remedial or penal in nature.”  Id. In Smith, the 10th Circuit set out a three-factor analysis to assess whether a statute is remedial or penal.  Those three factors are (1) whether the purpose of the statute was to redress individual wrongs or more general wrongs to the public, (2) whether recovery under the statute runs to the harmed individual or to the public and (3) whether the recovery authorized by the statute is wholly disproportionate to the harmed suffered.  Id.   

18.   Regarding the first factor, the court in The Chair King, Inc. v. GTE Mobilenet of Houston, Inc., 2004 WL 964224 (May 6, 2004) pointed out that the goal of the TCPA was to address general wrongs to the public.   Plaintiff’s only plausible argument that TCPA remedies are not penalties would be that recovery under the statute runs to the “harmed” individual.  But see, Chair King (pinpoint cite unavailable on Loislaw) (citing St. Louis Iron Mt & S. Ry. Co. v. Williams, 251 U.S. 63, 66-67 (1919) stating that the penalty may go to an individual “just as if it were going to the state.”  Regarding the third factor, Plaintiff does not make a claim for any actual damages in the Complaint. In paragraph 4 of his Complaint, Plaintiff claims that Defendant, New York Deli News, Inc. sent one or more faxes to fax machines of various individuals in the State of Colorado in 2003.  In Plaintiff’s prayer for relief, judgment is sought in favor of Plaintiff against Defendant for damages in excess of $15,000, which amount should be trebled for willful or knowing violations of the TCPA.  Plaintiff is seeking $45,000 in damages as a result of Defendant allegedly sending two faxes to existing clients. Plaintiff’s claims are clearly based on statutory penalties.  For each one page fax sent, Plaintiff’s actual damages, the cost of converting one piece of copy/fax paper can amount only to pennies or, for the sake of argument, assume actual damages of $1.00 per fax.  Under the assigned TCPA claims, however, Plaintiff is requesting $45,000 for a total of $22,500.00 per fax! Such a request can only be characterized as a penalty.  

        19.    Three-part analysis aside, the basic federal test of whether a law is penal (and                       characterized as a penalty) in the strict and primary sense is whether the wrong sought to be         redressed is a wrong to the public or a wrong to the individual. Huntington v. Attrill, 146              U.S. 657, 668, 13 S.Ct. 224, 36 L.Ed. 1123.  While the electoral impetus for the TCPA may         have its origin with disgruntled individuals among business and residential phone                         customers, Congressional authority for federal regulation of intrastate electronic traffic is             derived from the Commerce Clause of the United States Constitution.  Congress addresses           the aggregate telephone system, even the intrastate components of that network, as an                   instrumentality of interstate commerce.  Hence, it is the intrusion of the uninvited faxes                upon the greater instrumentality of the interstate system, and the resulting “wrong to the               public” that is the “wrong sought to be addressed” by the TCPA, under the Huntington test.  

        20.   In any event, if a sum of money is to be recovered by a third person for violation of a            statute instead of the person injured, Huntington v. Attrill, supra, 146 U.S. 657, 668, 13                S.Ct. 224, 36 L.Ed. 1123; State of Wisconsin v. Pelican Ins. Co., 127 U.S. 265, 299, 8 S.Ct.         1370, 32 L.Ed. 239, or if the sum exacted is greatly disproportionate to the actual loss,                 Helwig v. United States, 188 U.S. 605, 611, 23 S.Ct. 427, 47 L.Ed. 614, it constitutes a                 penalty rather than damages.

        21.   The TCPA clearly goes far beyond compensation of the injured individual, for the few         pennies that claimant may have been damaged.  Under 46 U.S.C. § 227 (f) (1) through (3),           the attorneys general of the states are specifically empowered to bring TCPA actions in the          federal District Courts of each state, in order to enforce compliance, and collect the civil               penalties without any demonstration of damages to said state.  This TCPA remedy is clearly         independent of recovery for damages; it is meant to impose sanctions upon offending                   “faxcasters” for the deterrent effect.  Further, the “sum extracted” under the TCPA ($500             per violation, subject to treble damages) is “greatly disproportionate to the actual loss.”                The costs of receiving a typical junk fax has been the subject of specific federal District                Court (Nixon ex rel. Missouri v. American Blastfax, et al.) findings, and has been                          determined to cost approximately $.05 to $.08 per page.  Although the ruling in the Nixon            case has been overturned, these FINDINGS were not disturbed on appeal.  Hence, a                      minimal recovery of $500 would represent as much as ten thousand times the actual                     compensatory damages.  In the case of multiple violations, and willfulness, the statutory              penalty could be nine times that, or ninety thousand times the actual damages.  Again, this           criterion, so disproportionate to the actual loss, suggests that TCPA sanctions are, indeed,            statutory penalties, not damages. Since actions for penalties are not assignable under federal         law, Plaintiff’s case must be dismissed.

        22.  Colorado law also prohibits assignment of TCPA § 227(b)(3) claims. A review of the            Colorado case law reveals four criteria for classifying a statute as a ‘statutory penalty’. A             statute will be construed as penal in nature when the statute: 1) “create[s] a new and distinct         statutory cause of action,” Palmer v. A. H. Robins Co., Inc., 684 P.2d 187, 214 (Colo.                   1984), 2) “requires no proof of actual damages as a condition precedent to recover,” Palmer,         684 P.3d at 214, 3) “impose[s] penalties in excess of actual damage,” Carlson v. McCoy,              566 P.2d 1073, 1074 (Colo. 1977), and 4) serves a public interest “through the deterrent              effect” of the damages awarded, Carlson, 566 P.2d at 1075. While the case law is unclear as        to how many criteria must be satisfied in order to make a determination, 47 U.S.C. §                    227(b)(3) satisfies all four criteria and should be construed as a statutory penalty.


i.  
47 U.S.C. § 227(b)(3) creates a new and distinct statutory cause of action.


The TCPA. was enacted to allow States to have jurisdiction over unsolicited                                  interstate calls and faxes, Chair King, 2004 WL 162938 at 12, in response to a                                growing concern over unsolicited advertising. Id. at 8. Prior to the enactment of                            the measure, unsolicited faxes were considered a legitimate advertising strategy,                           and the recipient of such advertising “assume[ed] both the cost associated with the                         use of the facsimile machine and the cost of the expensive paper used to print out                          the facsimile messages.’” H.R. Rpt. 102-317, 25 (1991); Chair King, 2004 WL                             162938 at  8.  Legislative history of the measure shows that it was fully                                        understood that “these costs are borne by the recipient of the fax advertisement…”                         Id. Prior to the passage of the Act, no remedy existed. Thus, the Act created a new                         and distinct statutory cause of action. 

          ii. 
47 U.S.C. § 227(b)(3) requires no proof of actual damages as a condition                                       precedent to recovery.


The TCPA provides that the recipient of an unsolicited fax may “receive $500 in                           damages for each such violation” in lieu of actual damages when the actual                                   monetary loss is less than $500. 47 U.S.C. § 227(b)(3)(B).   The alternative                                   provision to an actual damages award suggests that Congress did not intend for                             the recipient to bear a burden of proof with regard to showing damages. See id.  A                         recipient may file a claim for monetary damages even in the absence of actual                               damages, further suggesting that no proof of actual damages is required. Id.; see                            Kaplan v. First City Mortg., 701 N.Y.S.2d 859, 863 (City Ct. 1999). In addition,                           where “plaintiff offered no proof of actual monetary loss as a result of [an]                                    unsolicited telephone call”, the Kaplan court concluded that the plaintiff was                                 “[n]onetheless,…entitled to damages of $500 for the T.C.P.A. violation.” 701                                N.Y.S.2d at 863.  

            iii. 
47 U.S.C. § 227(b)(3) imposes monetary damages in excess of actual damage.


The TCPA provides that the recipient of an unsolicited fax may “receive $500 in                           damages for each such violation.” § 227(b)(3)(B) (emphasis added). Courts                                   considering whether or not the $500 per fax award violates the Due Process                                   Clause of the Constitution have acknowledged that the Act allows a damage                                  amount in excess of actual damages. See Kenro, Inc. v. Fax Daily, Inc., 962                                   F.Supp. 1162, 1165 (S.D. Ind. 1997); see Chair King, WL 162938 at 15; see Texas                         v. American Blastfax, Inc., 121 F.Supp.2d 1085, 1090 (S.D. Tex. 2001).  It has                              been estimated that “’the cost of one page of paper used by the typical fax                                     machine in use today is two and one-half cents,’ and ‘it takes between 30 and 45                           seconds for a fax machine to print an 8-inch by 11-inch page of text.’”                                          Destination Ventures, Ltd. v. F.C.C, 46 F.3d 54, 56 (Or. 1995); see Kenro, 962                             F.Supp. at 1160. 

             iv.  
47 U.S.C. § 227 was enacted to serve a public interest.
In conjunction with their due process analysis of the TCPA, the Kenro, Chair King, and American Blastfax Courts each concluded that the Act was designed to address a public harm. 962 F.Supp. at 1165, 2004 WL 162938 at 16; 121 F.Supp.2d at 1090. The American Blastfax Court noted that “…the T.C.P.A. damage provision was not designed solely to compensate each private injury caused by unsolicited fax advertisements. It was also intended to address and deter the overall public harm caused by such conduct.” 121 F.Supp.2d at 1090; see Chair King, 2004 WL 162938 at 16.  In addition, all three Courts pointed out that “Congress identified two legitimate public harms intended to be addressed by the T.C.P.A.’s ban on unsolicited fax advertisements: (1) these fax advertisements can substantially interfere with a business or residence…and (2) unsolicited fax advertisements unfairly shift nearly all of the advertiser’s printing costs.” American Blastfax, 121 F.Supp.2d at 1091 (emphasis added); Chair King, 2004 WL 162938 at 16 (emphasis added); Kenro,  962 F.Supp at 1166; see also H.R. Rpt. 102-317 at 25. In addition, all three Courts concluded that Congress intended for the monetary damages imposed by the Act to serve as a deterrent to these public harms. Kenro, 962 F.Supp at 1166 (“Congress designed a remedy that would…effectively deter the unscrupulous practice of shifting these costs…”); see American Blastfax, 121 F.Supp.2d at 1091; GTE, 2004 WL 162938 at 16. Overwhelming evidence supports the conclusion that Congress intended the Act to serve as a deterrent to a public harm. Thus, the Act was clearly designed to serve a public interest. 

23.    Applying the four criteria clearly shows that the TCPA was designed to be a statutory penalty. In addition, numerous courts have considered the damage awards allowed under the Act to be a penalty.  See Chair King, 2004 WL 162938 at 11 (“Congress intended to help states regulate and penalize unsolicited fax advertisements.” Emphasis added.); American Blastfax, 121 F.Supp.2d at 1090 (referring to § 227(b)(3)(B) as a “minimum penalty”. Emphasis added); Rudgayzer & Gratt v. LRS Communications, Inc., 2003 WL 22344990, 1 (N.Y. Civ. Ct.) (classifying the T.C.P.A. as a “statutory penalty”); Condon, 855 So.2d at 649 (“The [T.C.P.A.] provided for a civil penalty not to exceed $500 per violation.” Emphasis added.); Kaufman, 2 Cal.Rptr.3d at 328 (referring to § 227(b)(3)(B) as a penalty); Mulhern v. MacLeod, 2003 WL 22285515, 3 (Mass. Super.) (“[The T.C.P.A.] creates penalties for the transmission of unsolicited facsimiles…” Emphasis added); ESI Ergonomic Solutions, LLC v. United Artists Theatre Circuit, Inc., 50 P.3d 844, 850 (Ariz. App. Div. 1 2002) (referring to violations of the T.C.P.A. as a statutory penalty); Kaplan, 701 N.Y.S.2d at 863 (referring to violations of the T.C.P.A. as a statutory penalty); Kaplan v. Democrat and Chronicle, 698 N.Y.S.2d 799, 800 (N.Y. 1999) (holding “that the alternative remedy provided by the [T.C.P.A.] of up to $500 in damages…is punitive rather than compensatory.”).  Furthermore, even if an underlying statute is found to be remedial and not penal, Colorado law specifically classifies treble damage statutes as a statutory penalty.  Carlson v. McCoy, 566 P.2d 1073, 1075 (Colo. 1977).  

24.  Claims arising under a penalty statute are not assignable. “[A] right to recover a penalty is generally not assignable,” 36 Am. Jur. 2d Forfeitures and Penalties § 56 (2003), on the grounds that “[a]ssignability of such claims encourages litigation and strife” and that “the conversion of penalties into commodities or assets [is against public policy],” Peterson v. Ball, 296 p. 291, 294 (Cal. 1931); Wilson v. Shrader, 79 S.E. 1083, 1086 (W. Va. 1913). While addressing the issue of whether or not a statute imposing liability on directors for the debts of a corporation allows assignability, the Supreme Court of Colorado acknowledged the general rule that statutory penalties are not assignable. Credit Men’s Adjustment Co. v. Vickery, 62 Colo. 214, 218 (Colo. 1916) (holding that the statute in question was “not an assigned right of action to collect a penalty” and classifying the claim as remedial in order to allow the claim to proceed). Furthermore, a review of the case law overwhelmingly indicates that the general rule against the assignability of statutory penalties is well settled. Twelve other States found to have addressed the issue have concluded that statutory penalties are not assignable. Peterson, 296 p. at 294 (statutory penalties not assignable); Canal Indem. Co. v. Greene, 2003 WL 22966370 at 5 (Ga. App.) (“…claims for statutory penalties…may not be assigned”); Robinson v. St. Maries Lumber Co., 204 p. 671, 672 (Idaho 1921) (“The right to recover the penalty… is a personal right, [sic] and cannot be assigned.”); Hart Conversions v. Pyramid Seating Co., Inc., 658 N.E.2d 129, 131 (Ind. App. 1995) (“The general rule is that the right to collect a penalty is a personal right which is not assignable.”); Lloyd v. First Nat. Bank of Russell, 47 p. 575, 576 (Kan. App. 1897) (usury statute providing for the recovery of a statutory penalty not assignable); State ex rel. Mitchell v. City of Shawnee, 31 P.2d 552, 554 (Okla. 1934) (“The right of action for a penalty is clearly personal and nonassignable.”); Rorvik v. North Pacific Lumber Co., 195 p. 163, 167 (Or. 1921) (“Rights given by statute for the redress of personal wrongs are generally not assignable.”); National Surety Corp. v. State, 198 So. 299, 301 (Miss. 1940) (“The general rule is that a right to recover a penalty is not assignable.”); Heitfeld v. Benevolent and Protective Order of Keglers, 220 P.2d 655, 659 (Wash. 1950) (“In general, a cause of action for the recovery of a penalty is not assignable unless specifically made so by statute.”); Snodgrass v. Sisson’s Mobile Home Sales, Inc., 161 W.Va. 588, 591 (W. Va. 1978) (“As a general rule, an action to collect a statutory penalty is not assignable unless the statute contains language indicating an intention to make the cause of action assignable.”); see Investors Title Insurance Co., v. Herzig, 413 S.E.2d 268, 272 (N.C. 1992) (holding that treble damages pursuant to a cause of action for unfair practices are punitive in nature and not assignable); see Pardoe v. Iowa State Nat. Bank, 76 N.W. 800, 802 (Iowa 1898) (usury statute providing for the recovery of a statutory penalty not assignable). 

25.    In addition to the general rule, “[i]t is well-settled that penal statutes are to be strictly construed” for the purposes of determining liability. William Meade Fletcher, Fletcher Cyclopedia of the Law of Private Corps. vol. 3A, § 1203 (West 2003); see Denning, 326 P.3d at 79 (“The statute in question is penal and must be strictly construed.”); Credit Men’s Adjustment, 62 Colo. at 216 (“…the statute…may well be considered penal, in the sense that it should be strictly construed.”). The TCPA creates a “[p]rivate right of action” allowing a “person or entity” to file a claim based on violations of the Act. 47 U.S.C. § 227(b)(3). The language of the statute clearly entitles the recipient of an unsolicited fax to file a claim, see id., and is silent as to the assignability of any claims arising under the statute. Id.  Construing the statute strictly, silence on the assignability of claims further indicates that the claim is not assignable. 

26.    Not only is 47 U.S.C. § 227 silent on assignability, the statutory language is strained by implying the right to assign.  The TCPA provides an injunctive remedy as well as statutory penalties.  While Plaintiff requests an injunction against Defendant, Plaintiff clearly has no standing to make such request.  Defendant has never sent, and Plaintiff has never received a single fax.  The assignors are the ones who allegedly received fax transmissions – not Plaintiff.  

27.    Perhaps more important is the legislative history.  The legislative history quoted in Chair King repeatedly speaks to Senator Hollings statements regarding “consumers” being able to bring the action and his hope that states will allow “consumers” to bring the action in small claims court.  This indicates Congressional intent that the action be personal to the consumer who received the fax.  Congress did not intend to create a cottage industry where money is, for all intents and purposes, being extorted from small businesses who pay to settle demands made by third parties (who had no connection to any transaction with the defendants) because the defendants simply cannot afford to take on the legal machine created for the sole purpose of generating litigation to collect statutory penalties.    

28.   Colorado law prohibits assignment of TCPA claims. Even if statutory penalties are deemed assignable, Colorado law prohibits the assignment of TCPA claims.  See Livingston v. U.S. Bank, 58 P.3d 1088, 1090-1091 (Colo.App. 2002).  In Livingston, Plaintiff sought class action certification on behalf of all persons who received U.S. Bank facsimile advertisements who did not request that they be added to the facsimile advertisement database.  Id.      The court denied the request for class certification because the predominance requirement of C.R.C.P. 23(b)(3) was not met.  Id.  The court found that the question of whether any individual fax recipient gave “prior express invitation or permission” would have to be decided on an individual basis and therefore would overwhelm, let alone predominate over, the common issues. Id.  Individual inquiries into the facts and circumstances of each recipient's invitation and permission would have to be made.  Id.  Each potential plaintiff must prove that a specific transmission to its machine was without express invitation or permission.  

29.    If Livingston stands for anything, it stands for the proposition that TCPA claims are claims of the wronged consumer not assignees.  Plaintiff’s use of an assignment mechanism is simply an attempt to avoid the holding and reasoning of Livingston.  Plaintiff will be required to prove that each fax sent was sent to the facsimile machine of each individual assignor and was so transmitted without the assignor’s prior express permission.  This will require individual testimony from each assignor and the requisite discovery. 

30.  Colorado law prohibits multiple TCPA claims by recipients who fail to delist. The Court should further consider that the Colorado State legislature has enacted a substantially more balanced state statute (CCPA, @ C.R.S. § 6-1-702) to address and govern these same technologies and issues.  That statute places a small burden upon recipients of unwelcome facsimiles -- that of affirmatively de-listing their fax number from the pertinent database.  Only “more restrictive” state law pre-empts the TCPA.  In this regard, the CCPA is “more restrictive” upon the claimants, which clearly embodied Colorado’s legislative intent that consumers should play a role in protecting themselves (“mitigating their damages”), and asserting their objections to unsolicited facsimiles.  Congressional use of the “… if otherwise permitted…” language in the TCPA permits the CCPA to pre-empt the TCPA with regard to serial offenses, and bar penalties for subsequent faxes received by the same recipient.  
31.   The Courts in implementing the procedural avenues by which TCPA claims can be litigated in Colorado state courts should consider the legislative history of the Colorado Consumer Protection Act.  The CCPA is the state law most closely analogous to the TCPA, and the state legislature’s intent in passing it should bear upon the implementation of the federal law that now is asserted to pre-empt it.  The state legislators clearly meant for individual recipients of fax transmissions to affirmatively remove their numbers from the advertiser’s database, raising the question as to whether TCPA claimants in Colorado, who failed to remove their numbers, can collect for more than one violation.  
CONCLUSION

Plaintiff’s procedural strategy contravenes congressional intent, and defeats Colorado’s CCPA requirements:


Proxy Plaintiff, herein, attempts to apply the TCPA in a manner that directly contravenes Congressional intent – creating a huge, moneymaking enterprise for law firms and debt collectors, instead of the “mom & pop” remedy envisioned by Senator Hollings.  


The Courts of Colorado, in implementing the enforcement of the TCPA, cannot ignore the word “private” in regard to the TCPA’s “private right of action:”


The TCPA was created to give the recipients of unwanted fax ads a reasonable and personal remedy.  The TCPA “private right of action” was never meant to become a commodity that could be assigned, merged with other rights, and turned into a litigation juggernaut.  


Proxy Plaintiff Consumer Crusade, Inc. has chosen a strategy to defeat the due process rights of TCPA Defendants, and to shift the respective power between the true parties in interest:


The rights created under the TCPA are personal (see Judge Goldberger’s decision of March 31, ‘04, Exhibit E), and Defendant New York Deli News, Inc. has a due process right to confront the true parties in interest.  The relative powers of the litigants are intentionally skewed by the Plaintiff’s chosen procedural strategies, and these TCPA Defendants, small businessmen and women, are oppressed as a result of this assignment and aggregation strategy.   

For the foregoing reasons, as well as those set forth in Defendants’ MOTION TO DISMISS AND REQUEST FOR C.R.C.P. 11 SANCTIONS, Defendants request that this Honorable Court grant its MOTION TO DISMISS.

DATED this 5 day of August, 2004.

Respectfully submitted,

LERMAN & ASSOCIATES, P.C.

                                                                       [In accordance with C.R.C.P. 121 (1-26(9) a printed copy of this document with original signatures is being maintained by the filing party and will be made available for inspection by other parties or the court upon request.]


Eileen R. Lerman, #7644

50 South Steele Street, #820

Denver, Colorado  80209

Telephone: (303) 394-3900

Attorneys for Defendants
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

The undersigned hereby certifies that on the 5th day of August, 2004, a copy of the foregoing REPLY TO PLAINTIFF’S RESPONSE TO MOTION TO DISMISS AND REQUEST FOR C.R.C.P.11 SANCTIONS was e-filed and served by Courtlink addressed to the following:

A.M. Demirali

The Demirali Law Firm

875 S. Colorado Blvd., Box 662

Denver, Colorado 80246 

Another copy of the Response was sent to Mr. Demirali via U.S. mail

ADVANCE \y148A.M. Demirali

The Demirali Law Firm

875 S. Colorado Blvd., Box 662

Denver, Colorado 80246 
� Consumer Crusade’s case against A&I Products Inc. of Iowa, 04CV801, in Division 7 of the Denver District Court, was dismissed because Consumer Crusade did not supply the court-ordered identities of the actual recipients of the alleged junk faxes, as well as the number of junk faxes allegedly sent by A&I Products Inc. of Iowa.


� In 2004, the Colorado legislature repealed and reenacted C.R.S. §6-1-704 Colo. Legis. Serv. Ch. 130 (H.B. 04-1125) expanding state court jurisdiction on this issue by expressly opting-in to the TCPA’s private enforcement scheme.  The 2004 statute applies only to faxes sent on or after the effective date, and is not retroactive to faxes sent in 2003.  
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